No. 22-CV-567

Clerk of the Court <u>Received 01/04/2023</u> 04:35 PM Resubmitted 01/04/2023 04:48 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

CLAUDIA ALLEN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

2020 CAB 3374

D.C. DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Defendant/Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division, Case No. 2020 CA 003374-B

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CLAUDIA ALLEN

Christopher T. Nace (D.C. No. 977865) PAULSON & NACE, PLLC 1025 Thomas Jefferson St., NW Suite 810 Washington, DC 20007 Phone: (202) 463-1999 Fax: (202) 223-6824 Email: <u>ctnace@paulsonandnace.com</u>

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal presents two issues for review: (1) whether the Superior Court erred when it denied Ms. Allen's Motion for Class Certification, thereby declining to certify a class; and (2) whether the Superior Court erred when it granted the Motion for Summary Judgment of Defendant/Appellee District of Columbia ("the District"), thereby dismissing Ms. Allen's individual claim as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a traffic infraction received by Ms. Allen from the District. Ms. Allen claims that the District acted unreasonably or in breach of its statutory duties when it sent her a pre-addressed, return envelope printed in red ink along with her notice of infraction. Ms. Allen claims the District's conduct caused her payment of the original fine of \$100.00 to be delayed, thereby resulting in the imposition of an additional penalty of \$100.00 by the District. By the underlying action, Ms. Allen sought to recover the amount of the penalty on her individual claim. Additionally, Ms. Allen sought to certify a class of persons situated similarly to her. As the representative of that class, Ms. Allen would have sought to recover

the additional penalties imposed by the District on the putative class members for their untimely payments.

The Superior Court for the District of Columbia ("the Superior Court") issued a decision captioned "Order" that denied Ms. Allen's Motion for Class Certification (hereinafter the "Class Certification Order¹"). The Superior Court then issued a decision captioned "Order" that denied Ms. Allen's Motion for Summary Judgment and granted the Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter the "Summary Judgment Order²") of the District. These Orders became appealable upon the entry of the final judgment. *See Cotten v. Treasure Lake, Inc.,* 518 F.2d 770, 772 (6th Cir. 1975)("The order of the District Court declining to certify the class may be fully reviewed in any appeal taken from a final judgment later entered in this case."); *Jenkins v. BellSouth Corp.,* 491 F.3d 1288, 1292 (11th Cir. 2007)("[Plaintiff] can appeal the denial of class certification following the entry of a final judgment.")

The final judgment, which was also captioned "Order" (hereinafter the "Final Judgment Order³"), was entered on July 11, 2022. *See* Final Judgment Order ("For the reasons set forth in the Court's June 29, 2022 Order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment,

¹ The Class Certification Order is included in the Appendix at pages 1-12.

² The Summary Judgment Order is included in the Appendix at pages 13-24.

³ The Final Judgment Order is included in the Appendix at page 25.

pursuant to Super Ct. Civ. R. 58(a), it is this 11th day of July 2022 hereby: **ORDERED** that **JUDGMENT IS ENTERED** in favor of Defendant District of Columbia and against Plaintiff Claudia Allen. **SO ORDERED**.")(*emphasis in original*). On July 29, 2022, Ms. Allen filed a timely Notice of Appeal from the Final Judgment Order. *See Burt v. Nat'l Republican Club of Capitol Hill*, 828 F. Supp. 2d 115, 126 (D.D.C. 2012)("Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a)(1)(A) requires a notice of appeal to be filed within thirty days of entry of judgment.")

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This lawsuit resulted from the unreasonable and arbitrary procedures of the District and the folly of an individual action to recover the damages caused by those procedures. Upon receiving notice of a traffic infraction by the District, Ms. Allen justifiably relied on the pre-printed, return envelope provided by the District in attempting to pay the fine by mail. She affixed the appropriate postage and placed the envelope in the mail a full two-weeks before the District's thirty-day deadline for the receipt of such payments. Unable to read/process the address that had been pre-printed on the envelope, the USPS returned it to Ms. Allen instead of delivering it to the District. By that time, the District had doubled Ms. Allen's fine. Despite Ms. Allen's incontrovertible proof that she had mailed in the payment via the District's pre-addressed, return envelope a full two weeks before the thirty-day deadline, the District refused to waive the penalty in accordance with its procedures.

Under these circumstances, the District's failure to follow the USPS's longstanding, published guidelines in the design of the pre-addressed, return envelopes was unreasonable, unjustifiable, and in breach of its statutory duties. Because individual claims to recover penalties wrongly imposed by the District are economically infeasible and Ms. Allen's claim is fundamentally the same as the claims of other persons whose fines were doubled due to the District's use of red ink on pre-addressed, return envelopes, a class action is both suitable and warranted.

In denying Ms. Allen's Motion for Class Certification, the Superior Court applied the wrong legal standards – and then reached the wrong conclusions – on the class action requirements of commonality, typicality, and adequacy. In denying an injunctive class under Rule 23(b)(2), the Superior Court erred by considering the District's voluntary cessation of the challenged conduct. In denying a damages class under Rule 23(b)(3), the Superior Court performed no analysis of the requirements of predominance and superiority. Instead, the Superior Court simply relied on its erroneous conclusion that the requirement of commonality had not been met.

As to Ms. Allen's individual claim, the Superior Court dismissed her claim as a matter of law via summary judgment. This decision was in error as the Superior Court improperly weighed the conflicting evidence of the parties' experts and then resolved this conflict in favor of the District. Additionally, the Superior Court erred when it resolved the element of causation in favor of the District despite sufficient evidence to submit the element of causation to the jury.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>Claudia Allen Receives Notice of a Traffic Infraction from</u> <u>the District that Includes a Pre-Addressed, Return Envelope</u> <u>to Pay the Fine by Mail.</u>

By letter dated September 6, 2018, Ms. Allen received a Notice of Infraction from the District informing her that a vehicle registered to her had been photographed exceeding the posted speed limit of 35 mph. *See* Declaration of Claudia Allen in Support of Motion for Class Certification⁴ ("Allen Declaration"), ¶¶ 2-4 ("Exhibit A") *and* Notice of Infraction ("Exhibit A-1" to the Allen Declaration). Ms. Allen attempted to pay the fine of \$100.00 by mailing a check to the District using the pre-addressed, return envelope included with the Notice of Infraction. Allen Declaration, ¶ 5.

Sometime after October 12, 2018, Ms. Allen received another notice from the District captioned "Notice of Unsatisfied Photo Enforcement Ticket." Allen Declaration, ¶ 6; Notice of Unsatisfied Photo Enforcement Ticket ("Exhibit A-2" to the Allen Declaration). The Notice of Unsatisfied Photo Enforcement Ticket stated that Ms. Allen had failed to answer the Notice of Infraction within thirty days,

⁴ The Declaration of Claudia Allen in Support of Motion for Class Certification is in the record as "Exhibit A" to the Motion for Class Certification.

thereby resulting in a "PENALTY" of \$100.00 and bringing the "AMOUNT DUE" to \$200.00. Ms. Allen then called the District via the number provided and paid the fine of \$200.00 by credit card over the phone. *See* Allen Declaration, \P 6.

Shortly thereafter, the pre-addressed, return envelope that Ms. Allen had used to mail in her payment ("the payment letter") of the original fine was returned to Ms. Allen by the United States Postal Service ("USPS") with a yellow sticker stating:

RETURN TO SENDER UNCLAIMED UNABLE TO FORWARD

See Allen Declaration, ¶ 7 and Payment Letter ("Exhibit A-3" to the Allen Declaration). Additionally, the postmark showed that Ms. Allen's payment letter entered the USPS system on September 22, 2018 – two full weeks before a penalty could be imposed by the District for untimely payment. Upon receiving this, Ms. Allen again called and spoke to a representative of the District. Ms. Allen explained that she had proof of mailing the payment of the original fine of \$100.00 well within thirty days and asked that the District refund the "penalty" of \$100.00. Allen Declaration, ¶ 8. The representative of the District refused and told Ms. Allen that the penalty is imposed whenever the original fine is not received within thirty days and the District did not care whether she had proof of having mailed payment of the original fine before that time. Allen Declaration, ¶ 8; see also Deposition of Wanda

Butler⁵, p. 41 (Q. "And on what day is the system programmed to double the fine and send this notice that you haven't paid." A. "The fine doubles on Day 31. The notice is generated on Day 33-ish.")

Per the requirements of D.C. Code § 12-309, Ms. Allen notified the District of her potential claim via letter dated March 4, 2019. *See* Declaration of Matthew E. Stubbs⁶ ("Stubbs Declaration")("Exhibit B") *and* Notice Letter (attached to Stubbs Declaration as "Exhibit B-1"). Ms. Allen filed suit against the District on July 31, 2020. Relative to her individual claim, Ms. Allen is seeking damages of \$100.00; *i.e,* the amount of the penalty imposed by the District for her untimely payment of the original fine.

B. <u>Shortly After Receiving Ms. Allen's Notice Letter, the</u> <u>District Switched from Red Ink to Black Ink for its Pre-</u> <u>Addressed, Return Envelopes.</u>

The District contracted with Conduent State & Local Solutions, Inc. ("Conduent"), which sub-contracted with Toucan Business Forms, for the mailings associated with the District's Automated Traffic Enforcement Program: "Toucan Business Forms (Toucan) provided mailing services to the District. The District

⁵ The Deposition of Wanda Butler is in the record as "Exhibit C" to Ms. Allen's Motion for Summary Judgment.

⁶ The Declaration of Matthew E. Stubbs is in the record as "Exhibit A" to Ms. Allen's Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint.

contracted with a company called Conduent, and Conduent contracted with Toucan". Defendant's Responses to Plaintiff's Second Set of [Discovery Requests]⁷, Response to Interrogatory No. 17.

Wanda Butler is the Adjudication Services Administrator for the District of Columbia Department of Motor Vehicles. Deposition of Wanda Butler, p. 4 ("My name is Wanda Butler. I work for the District of Columbia Department of Motor Vehicles. I am the adjudication services administrator for DMV adjudication services."). Ms. Butler acknowledged that, after receiving Ms. Allen's Notice Letter, the District instructed Toucan to discontinue the use of red ink and, instead, use black ink for the pre-addressed, return envelopes:

- Q. Do you have any knowledge concerning any actions that the District took in response to the notice letter of Ms. Allen?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What were those actions?
- A. We directed the vendor to stop using red ink on the return envelope.

Deposition of Wanda Butler, p. 17. Toucan complied, and "[n]o envelopes with return addresses printed in red ink were sent after September 16, 2019." Defendant's

⁷ Defendant's Responses to Plaintiff's Second Set of [Discovery Requests] is in the record as "Exhibit B-3" to the Declaration of Matthew E. Stubbs to the Motion for Class Certification. The Declaration of Matthew E. Stubbs to the Motion for Class Certification is in the record as "Exhibit B" to Ms. Allen's Motion for Class Certification.

Responses to Plaintiff's First Set of [Discovery Requests], Responses to Interrogatory Nos. 12, 13, and 14. At that point, the District began using black ink for the preaddressed, return envelopes. Deposition of Wanda Butler, p. 23 ("Q. On September 16th of 2019, the District's contractor began using black ink for those letters? A. I believe September 16th is the correct date. Yes.")

C. <u>Plaintiff's Expert, Peter Wade, Opines that the District's Use</u> of Red Ink for Pre-Addressed, Return Envelopes Violated USPS Guidelines and Caused the USPS to be Unable to <u>Read/Process Ms. Allen's Payment Letter.</u>

Peter Wade, who was employed by the USPS for over twenty years, analyzed the pre-addressed, return envelope sent back to Ms. Allen by the USPS. As explained in his reports⁸ and subsequent deposition testimony, the USPS utilizes automated equipment to process virtually all mail and "publishes various documents that provide guidelines for optimizing the readability of mail" relative to such processing equipment. Peter Wade Report, p. 4. Mr. Wade summarized the guidelines pertinent to this case as follows:

USPS Publication 25, which applies to letter-size mail, provides requirements for the minimum print reflectance difference for information printed on letter-size mail and advises that "Black ink on a white background usually satisfies this requirement, and the Postal Service recommends it." Similarly, USPS Publication 177, which applies to flat-size mail, under a section captioned "DELIVERY

⁸ Mr. Wade produced an initial report ("Peter Wade Report") and a supplemental/rebuttal report ("Peter Wade Supplemental/Rebuttal Report"). These reports are in the record as "Exhibit B-7" and "Exhibit B-8" to the Declaration of Matthew E. Stubbs in Support of Motion for Class Certification.

ADDRESS FORMAT, contains a similar recommendation: "Print black ink against a light background." USPS Publication 28, which provides general recommendations for "Postal Addressing Standards," contains an appendix captioned "Address Formatting," which states that "Addresses should be typewritten or machine printed in dark ink on a light background" Finally, Section 202 of the Domestic Mail Manual specifies that the typeface of an automated mail piece "Not contain phosphorescent or red fluorescent colorants.

Peter Wade Report, p. 4. Mr. Wade then expressed the following conclusion:

Based upon my experience, any bulk mailer should be aware of and comply with these guidelines. The address pre-addressed on the return envelope sent to Claudia Allen was printed in red ink and, in my opinion, violated these USPS guidelines.

Peter Wade Report, p. 4. With regard to causation, Mr. Wade opined that the

District's use of red ink resulted in the USPS being unable to read/process the pre-

printed bar code (and other portions of the return address) on Ms. Allen's payment

letter:

In summary, the pre-addressed, returned envelope received by Claudia Allen does not meet the basic USPS requirements for such mail as the return address is printed in red ink . . . [which] made the returned envelope unreadable by the automated mail-processing equipment utilized by the USPS and, ultimately, caused it to be returned to Claudia Allen instead of reaching its intended destination.

Peter Wade Report, p. 4.

D. <u>The Superior Court Declines to Certify a Class and then</u> <u>Dismisses Ms. Allen's Individual Claim on Summary</u> <u>Judgment.</u>

In her Motion for Class Certification, Ms. Allen sought to certify the following

class: "Owners of registered vehicles who (1) were sent notice of a traffic infraction

from the District; (2) between August 1, 2017 and September 16, 2019; (3) that included a pre-addressed envelope with the return address printed in red ink; and (4) had their original fine doubled." Motion for Class Certification, pp. 17-18. The Superior Court denied the Motion for Class Certification, thereby declining to certify a class. Class Certification Order, p. 12; Appendix, p. 12 ("**ORDERED** that Plaintiff's Motion for Class Certification is **DENIED**")(*emphasis in original*).

After completing discovery on the merits issues, both parties sought summary judgment on Ms. Allen's individual claim. The Superior Court denied Ms. Allen's Motion for Summary Judgment and granted the District's Motion for Summary Judgment, thereby dismissing Ms. Allen's individual claim as a matter of law. Summary Judgment Order, p. 12; Appendix, p. 24 ("ORDERED that Plaintiff Claudia Allen's Motion for Summary Judgment is **DENIED**; and it is further **ORDERED** that Defendant District of Columbia's Motion for Summary Judgment is **GRANTED**")(*emphasis in original*). By this appeal, Ms. Allen seeks review and a reversal of these decisions.

ARGUMENT

- I. FIRST ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW: Whether the Superior Court erred when it granted the District's Motion for Summary Judgment.
 - A. <u>The Standard of Review for a Trial Court's Grant of</u> <u>Summary Judgment is *De Novo*.</u>

The standard of review for evaluating a trial court's grant of summary judgment is *de novo. Briscoe v. District of Columbia*, 62 A.3d 1275, 1278 (D.C. Cir. 2013)("This court reviews *de novo* the trial court's grant of summary judgment."); *Clampitt v. Am. Univ.*, 957 A.2d 23, 28 (D.C. Cir. 2008)("We review a trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment *de novo*.") In a recent decision, this Court set forth the summary judgment standard as follows:

Summary judgment is appropriate if there are no disputed issues of material fact and the record conclusively shows that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.... The record is viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, who is entitled to all favorable inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidentiary materials.

Frankeny v. Dist. Hosp. Partners, LP, 225 A.3d 999, 1003-04 (D.C. Cir. 2020)(*internal quotations and citations omitted*); *see also Briscoe*, 62 A.3d at 1278 ("Our standard of review is the same as the trial court's standard for initially considering a party's motion for summary judgment; that is, summary judgment is proper if there is no issue of material fact and the record shows that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.")

B. <u>Whether the District's Use of Red Ink Caused Ms. Allen's</u> <u>Payment Letter to be Undeliverable by the USPS is</u> <u>Effectively a Battle of the Experts.</u>

Mr. Wade's opinion that the District's use of red ink for pre-addressed, return letters both violated USPS Guidelines and caused Ms. Allen's payment letter to be undeliverable did not go unchallenged. John Mashia, Jr., the District's expert,

responded to Mr. Wade's report with his own report captioned "Expert Report of John D. Mashia, Jr." (the "John Mashia Report").⁹ While acknowledging multiple USPS Guidelines recommend the use of black ink (and discourage the use of red ink) for pre-printed addresses, Mr. Mashia dismissed this as merely a matter of preference: "The USPS would prefer black block letter printing but does not force people to use it if they are mailing something by full-postage First-Class mail." John Mashia Report, ¶ 37. Mr. Mashia, who has never been employed by the USPS, claimed to be unaware of any "complaints" or "problems" the USPS might have with the use of red ink for pre-printed addresses: "In my experience, use of red ink on a custom return envelope like Ms. Allen's would not cause it to be unreadable or returned.... I am not aware of any complaints from the USPS about this or problems with this practice." John Mashia Report, ¶ 36. Finally, with no explanation for why the USPS was unable to process Mr. Allen's payment letter, Mr. Mashia brushed it off as a "fluke": "The USPS's failure to deliver Ms. Allen's envelope was a fluke, due to a USPS processing error, not the result of any systemic inability to read or process the Envelope or others like it." John Mashia Report, ¶ 8.

Given the opportunity to do so at trial, Mr. Wade will dispute each and every one of these points. For example, in Mr. Wade's Supplemental/Rebuttal Report, he

⁹ The Expert Report of John D. Mashia, Jr. is in the record as Exhibit 2 to the District's Statement of Undisputed Material Facts in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

explained the USPS's spraying of additional barcodes over the pre-printed bar code

on Ms. Allen's payment letter was no "fluke":

[I]n Paragraph 7 of his report, Mr. Mashia states that the USPS "sprayed a different barcode one or more times over the accurate pre-applied barcode" on the pre-printed, return envelope provided to Ms. Allen but offers no explanation or opinion why it would have done so. . . . In Paragraphs 7 and 8 of his report, Mr. Mashia then characterizes this "USPS processing error" as a "fluke" which "caused the mail piece to be delayed, lost in the USPS system, and returned to Ms. Allen."

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