### No. 22-CV-567

# IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL Received 04/20/2023 03:30 PM

## CLAUDIA ALLEN, APPELLANT,

V.

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES, APPELLEE.

# ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE Deputy Solicitor General

\*JEREMY R. GIRTON
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Solicitor General

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

paying the fine collaterally estopped him from challenging the validity of the fine in a subsequent civil action against the District).

True, the District did not label its summary judgment argument in terms of collateral estoppel, but the Court may reach the issue because it is a purely legal question premised on undisputed facts in the record that provides an alternative ground to uphold the Superior Court's judgment. See Franco v. District of Columbia, 3 A.3d 300, 307 (D.C. 2010). Despite not using the term "collateral estoppel," the District pressed essentially the same point by arguing that Allen could not establish causation. In its summary judgment motion, the District stressed that Allen had the chance to contest the \$100 late penalty, "but instead she simply admitted liability." Def.'s Mot. for Summ. J. 9. It argued that Allen "should not be allowed to circumvent the adjudication procedures and contest the penalty several years later, especially after admitting liability for both the ticket and the penalty." Id. at 9 n.3. In other words, the District argued that Allen's liability for the \$100 late penalty was already determined by the prior administrative proceeding and could not be collaterally attacked now—the essential premise of a collateral estoppel defense.

Even assuming the District failed to adequately present this argument below, the Court should not apply forfeiture. Issue and claim preclusion defenses "can be raised by an appellate court for the first time on appeal" if they serve as an alternative basis to affirm a lower court's judgment. 18 Charles Alan Wright, et al., *Federal* 

Practice and Procedure § 4405 (3d ed. 2023); see, e.g., Kovach, 805 A.2d at 961 (addressing defense sua sponte); Bechtold v. City of Rosemount, 104 F.3d 1062, 1068 (8th Cir. 1997) (same); Rosendahl v. Nixon, 360 F. App'x 167, 168 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (same); Lerch v. City of Green Bay, 406 F. App'x 46, 47 (7th Cir. 2010) (same); Hutcherson v. Lauderdale County, 326 F.3d 747, 757 (6th Cir. 2003) (same); Russell v. SunAmerica Sec., Inc., 962 F.2d 1169, 1172 (5th Cir. 1992) (same). This is permissible because an animating purpose of preclusion is "the avoidance of unnecessary judicial waste," which creates a "special circumstance" that justifies reaching the unpreserved issue, even on the court's own initiative. Arizona v. California, 530 U.S. 392, 412 (2000) (internal quotation marks omitted). And where the parties are fully aware of the issues and are not prejudiced by the earlier failure to raise the defense, consideration of the defense is proper. Goldkind v. Snider Bros., 467 A.2d 468, 473 (D.C. 1983). Recognizing that Allen's claim is barred by collateral estoppel would be the easiest method of resolving this appeal because it is a simple application of law to undisputed facts.

# B. The DMV did not breach any duty of care by using red ink on its return envelopes.

If the Court reaches the merits of Allen's claim, it should affirm the grant of summary judgment to the District because the undisputed evidence establishes that Allen could not prove that the DMV breached a legal duty. To prevail on a claim of common-law negligence, a plaintiff must successfully prove "(1) a duty of care

owed by the defendant to the plaintiff, (2) a breach of that duty by the defendant, and (3) damage to the plaintiff, proximately caused by the breach of duty." *Powell ex rel. Ricks v. District of Columbia*, 634 A.2d 403, 406 (D.C. 1993). Even assuming that Allen could show that the statutes requiring the DMV to design and send traffic citations, D.C. Code §§ 50-2209.02, 50-2302.04, meant that the DMV owed her some "special duty, greater than or different from any duty which it owed to the general public" to act with "reasonable caution," *Powell*, 634 A.2d at 406-07 (cleaned up), she could not establish that the use of red ink on the return envelopes breached that duty.

Allen bore the burden of establishing the scope of the DMV's duty of care and the nature of its breach. *See Beard v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 587 A.2d 195, 199 (D.C. 1991). That required expert testimony because the technical issue of whether using a particular ink color on an envelope is "reasonable" is "beyond the ken of the average layperson." *Id.* at 200 (quoting *Toy v. District of Columbia*, 549 A.2d 1, 6 (D.C. 1988)). To establish the standard of care, her expert had to point to either "the practices in fact generally followed by other comparable governmental facilities or to some standard nationally recognized by such units." *Phillips v. District of Columbia*, 714 A.2d 768, 773 (D.C. 1998) (quoting *Clark v. District of Columbia*, 708 A.2d 632, 635 (D.C. 1997)).

Allen offered no evidence about industry standards with regard to designing courtesy return envelopes. The District's expert did, however, and that testimony was unrebutted. The District's expert testified that "numerous organizations use colored ink" for return envelopes to make them more recognizable, and that he is "not aware of any complaints from the USPS about this or problems with the practice." SA 77-78. Allen's expert did not contradict this testimony. He did not dispute that red ink is routinely used, or that USPS's machines can read envelopes addressed in red ink. In fact, he opined that the DMV's subcontractor likely "submitted a proposed envelope design to a USPS mailpiece design analyst for approval." SA 91, 143. By definition, an envelope design cannot be unreasonable if it was affirmatively pre-approved by USPS.

Instead of offering expert testimony about standards in the industry, Allen cited four USPS publications providing non-binding USPS recommendations, mainly about other types of mail. Those guidance documents cannot establish a standard of care because, as Allen's own expert conceded, they are merely "recommendation[s]" expressing USPS's "preference[s]," not requirements. SA 91, 118, 141-42. Her expert did not opine that it is industry standard to follow *all* of USPS's non-mandatory guidelines (even those for other kinds of mail); nor did he indicate that deviating from the recommendations risks making mail undeliverable.

Even reviewing these four guidance documents, they would not establish that the DMV breached any standard of care because the recommendations do not caution against using red ink to address letter-sized envelopes like Allen's. Allen primarily relies on USPS Publication 177, "Guidelines for Optimizing the Readability of Flat-Size Mail." Br. 9-10; *see* SA 33-40. Flat-size mail refers to large envelopes, newsletters, and magazines, not letter-sized envelopes. SA 77. That USPS Publication 177 recommends printing addresses on magazines in black ink to facilitate automation could not establish a standard against printing addresses on letter-sized envelopes in another color.

Allen also cites portions of USPS Publication 28 and Section 202 of the Domestic Mail Manual, provisions that do not apply to envelopes like hers. Br. 10. As to Publication 28, she cites an appendix related to automated mail, not first-class mail like her envelope. That appendix merely recommends printing addresses in "dark ink on a light background." USPS, *Publication 28: Postal Addressing Standards* app. A1, https://pe.usps.com/text/pub28/28apa\_002.htm (last visited Apr. 20, 2023). There is no evidence that Allen's envelope contravenes this recommendation. As to Section 202 of the Domestic Mail Manual, she cites a provision related to repositionable notes (essentially, pieces of paper glued onto the envelope) that recommends against using "phosphorescent or red fluorescent colorants." USPS, *Domestic Mail Manual* § 202 ¶ 7.3(b), https://pe.usps.com/text/

dmm300/202.htm#ep1085575 (last visited Apr. 20, 2023). There is no evidence that Allen's envelope contained a repositionable note or that anything on it could glow in the dark.

Finally, Allen cites a portion of USPS Publication 25 that discusses the required print reflectance difference between the envelope and the pre-printed Face Identification Mark (FIM). Br. 9. A FIM "is a pattern of vertical bars printed in the upper-right portion of a mailpiece" that assists with automated sorting, and it is required only to obtain certain kinds of automation and machinable discounts. *See* USPS, *Publication 25: Designing Letter and Reply Mail* 7, 53 (Nov. 2018), https://about.usps.com/publications/pub25.pdf; SA 77. Allen's envelope, which bore a full-price first-class stamp, did not require such discounts. SA 77.

Regardless, Allen did not allege (much less offer any evidence) that the FIM on her envelope lacked the recommended print reflective difference. And even if she had, this would not have anything to do with the ink color used to print the address, which is what she claims was unreasonable. *See, e.g.*, SA 21-22 (alleging that the DMV was negligent for failing to print the "delivery address" in black ink and saying nothing about a FIM). In fact, other provisions of this publication make clear that red ink is allowed. The guidance on business reply mail, for instance, states that "[a]ll ink colors are acceptable" so long as they meet the applicable

reflectance standard. USPS, *Publication 25: Designing Letter and Reply Mail* 37 (Nov. 2018), https://about.usps.com/publications/pub25.pdf.

To be sure, the Superior Court declined to grant summary judgment on the breach element of Allen's claim because it concluded that a jury could find it "unreasonable not to follow guidelines set forth by USPS." App. 20. But the expert testimony that Allen offered failed to establish that these guidelines are industry standard for letter-sized mail or that the DMV actually deviated from any relevant USPS recommendation in using envelopes pre-approved by USPS itself. Allen failed to raise a triable issue of fact about whether the DMV breached a duty of care, and all other evidence in the record suggests that the DMV acted reasonably. Thus, the District was entitled to summary judgment on this element as well.

# C. Allen could not establish causation because red ink did not cause her envelope to be returned and her ultimate injury was self-inflicted.

Summary judgment was also warranted because the undisputed facts show that Allen could not prove causation. "To establish proximate cause, the plaintiff must present evidence from which a reasonable juror could find that there was a direct and substantial causal relationship between the defendant's breach of the standard of care and the plaintiff's injuries and that the injuries were foreseeable." *Convit v. Wilson*, 980 A.2d 1104, 1125 (D.C. 2009) (quoting *District of Columbia v. Zukerberg*, 880 A.2d 276, 281 (D.C. 2005)). "[P]roximate causation [is] that

cause which, in natural and continual sequence, unbroken by any efficient intervening cause, produces the injury and without which the result would not have occurred." *Zukerberg*, 880 A.2d at 281 (quoting *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. James G. Davis Constr. Corp.*, 350 A.2d 751, 752 (D.C. 1976)). Even viewing all the evidence in the light most favorable to Allen, she could not meet her burden for two critical reasons.

First, both parties' experts agreed that Allen's envelope was returned because of a USPS error, not because it was addressed in red ink. Examining Allen's envelope, the District's expert opined that USPS repeatedly applied a different (inaccurate) barcode over the pre-applied (accurate) barcode along the bottom edge of the envelope, leading the envelope to be delayed and ultimately returned to Allen. SA 76-77, 84-86. Although he could not explain why this USPS error occurred, he ruled out red ink as the culprit, stating that the "use of red ink on a custom return envelope like Ms. Allen's would not cause it to be unreadable or returned." SA 77-78. Even if a USPS machine had difficulty reading the envelope, there is a process to divert the mail to a human reviewer so that it is properly delivered. SA 85.

Allen's expert concurred with all these points. He agreed that USPS sprayed additional barcodes over the preprinted barcode. SA 118. He agreed that Allen's envelope should have been delivered regardless of the ink color used because it bore a valid, legible address and proper postage. SA 102-03. He agreed that USPS's

machines can read red ink. SA 97. And he agreed that, if a machine cannot read an address, USPS's processing triage will route it to a human reviewer. SA 99-100. Allen's expert also conceded that the likelihood that an envelope addressed in red ink would not be delivered was "very remote," which is not meaningfully greater than the two percent chance he estimated that an envelope with black ink would not be delivered. SA 99-102. Therefore, Allen could not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that red ink proximately caused her envelope to be returned, even by her own expert's admission.

The other evidence at summary judgment only confirms this conclusion. The DMV's Adjudication Services Division Administrator, Wanda Butler, testified that she had never encountered a case like Allen's in her seventeen years running the division, and that she had no record or memory of any other individual complaining that their payment was not delivered because of the color of the address on the envelope. SA 121. Indeed, when the DMV's subcontractor switched to using black ink on the envelopes in September 2019, there was virtually *no change* in the rate at which citations incurred late fees. SA 106-08. If using red ink would "natural[ly]" and "direct[ly]" lead to envelopes being returned and cause more than a third of all individuals to incur a late fee, one would expect that switching the ink color to black would have dramatically reduced the rate of late penalties. *Zukerberg*, 880 A.2d at 281. The fact that there was no meaningful change in the rate strongly indicates that

the ink color had no effect on the likelihood that an envelope would be returned as undeliverable or that a particular person would incur a late fee.

Second, Allen also could not prove causation because her injury—the \$100 late penalty—was not caused by her envelope being returned, but by her own concession of liability. As explained, rather than contest the late penalty, Allen chose to pay it, thereby admitting that she was liable for failing to answer her citation within the thirty days as required by law. See supra Part I.A.; SA 32. In other words, even though Allen's lawsuit seeks to recover "penalties wrongly imposed by the District," Br. 4, her penalty was, as a matter of law, not "wrongly imposed." She admitted liability for the penalty, meaning that she, not the DMV, caused her penalty to become binding and final.

Allen's actions were unreasonable and thus make her contributorily negligent for her injury. A reasonable individual in Allen's position who thought that she should not be obligated to pay the \$100 penalty because she had timely mailed her payment would have contested the penalty using the available administrative review procedure. She would not have conceded liability for the penalty and waived her opportunity for administrative and judicial review. Because Allen "proximately

contributed" to her own injury through her unreasonable conduct, she "cannot recover." *Phillips v. Fujitec Am., Inc.*, 3 A.3d 324, 328 (D.C. 2010).<sup>4</sup>

Allen's arguments to the contrary fail to raise a genuine dispute of material fact as to causation. She attempts to characterize the issue of causation as a "battle of the experts" because her expert initially opined that Allen's envelope was returned because "the return address is printed in red ink." Br. 12-19; see SA 92. But her expert effectively withdrew that opinion in his deposition, stating that he could not "say for sure" whether the USPS's machines were unable to read the red ink on Allen's envelope and that he could not render "a final definitive opinion" on why her envelope was returned. SA 97-98, 100-02. In general, he opined that there is "a very remote chance that an envelope printed in red ink will fail to reach its destination," SA 101, which is far from sufficient to establish a genuine dispute as to proximate cause.

Allen attempts to shift her theory by noting that her expert's supplemental report speculated that Allen's envelope might not have been delivered because the

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